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CHAIR WIENER: 
Welcome to the Senate Committee on Health and Education. We are going to do 
a work session first with Assembly Bill (A.B.) 14.  
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 14: Revises provisions governing testing and reporting of 

results of pupils. (BDR 34-294) 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Assembly Bill 14 is one of the measures that has no amendment. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Are we addressing the issue about kindergarten through twelfth grade leading to 
higher education? Are we drawing it so kids out of high school have that 
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readiness when they go into higher education? I am concerned that we did not 
address that in this bill, and I think it needs to be addressed.  
 
MINDY MARTINI (Committee Policy Analyst): 
This particular bill only refers to the growth model for the criterion reference 
test. I do not believe there was any discussion about tying it to something 
additional. There is also a small provision for the high school proficiency 
examination, which is a technical correction. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Even in the title it says revising provisions governing the alternative criteria for 
receipt of a high school diploma. We are looking at diplomas but we are not 
taking care of the issue of tying together the remediation issue. Maybe it is not 
the area to put it, but I think we need to address doing something, not just 
doing mechanics. 
 
MS. MARTINI: 
This particular measure brings up diplomas only because of alternative criteria 
for the high school proficiency examination if one has failed it a number of 
times. Currently, the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) says one has to have failed 
all portions three times, but pupils only had the opportunity to take the high 
school proficiency examination two times. It is truly a technical correction, and 
there was really no discussion during the interim to tie it to something more 
than that. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
On page 10, line 12, of A.B. 14, the added part was “including, without 
limitation, whether public schools have made progress based upon the model 
adopted by the Department ... .” We are looking for some other things. If you 
want to eliminate it, I think it is important for us to make sure we have our 
students adequately prepared for higher education. Every opportunity we have 
to address that should be used.  
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
My thought would be the importance of continuity. We can, upon moving the 
measure, send a letter signed by all members of the Committee to the 
Department of Education that this is something we are concerned about and 
this could be included in their consideration as we move forward. We can 
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reinforce it through a Committee letter signed by all members. I will entertain a 
motion. 
  
 SENATOR WOODHOUSE MOVED TO DO PASS A.B. 14. 
 
 SENATOR WASHINGTON SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.  

 
***** 

 
CHAIR WIENER: 
The Committee will draft a letter signed by all members of the Committee to the 
Department of Education reinforcing our concerns with the continuity of this 
process. We will now go to A.B. 121. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 121 (1st Reprint): Revises various changes concerning health 

care facilities that employ nurses. (BDR 40-492) 
 
MARSHEILA H. LYONS (Committee Policy Analyst): 
On page 27 of the work session document (Exhibit C, original is on file in the 
Research Library), A.B. 121 requires certain hospitals in Washoe and 
Clark Counties to create staffing committees responsible for drafting 
documented staffing plans that address the number, skill mix and classification 
of licensed nurses required for each unit in the facility. Certain other health-care 
facilities in the same counties must also make available to the Health Division, 
Department of Health and Human Services, documented staffing plans. This 
was heard on May 1, 2009. There are no amendments to consider for this 
measure. 
 
 SENATOR WASHINGTON MOVED TO DO PASS A.B. 121. 
 
 SENATOR WOODHOUSE SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
SENATOR WOODHOUSE:  
Just for the record, I do not think this bill goes far enough but I am more than 
happy to second the motion and vote for it. This is the first step in addressing 
the issue that has been brought forth to us by two groups of hospital nurses. 
I think it is time for us to look at this issue. This is a good way to get started. 
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 THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.  

 
***** 

 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We will now go to A.B. 191. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 191 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing certain 

examinations of the height and weight of pupils. (BDR 34-827) 
 
MS. MARTINI: 
This bill provides that school districts are required to conduct examinations of 
height and weight of a representative sample of pupils in Grades 4, 7 and 10. 
No amendments have been submitted for this measure. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
It says there is no fiscal impact on the State. Who is going to pay for the 
testing? The concern I have with this is that we are sending information but we 
are not really doing anything with this yet, and I had concerns before. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
I know we had extensive dialogue and witnesses from the health districts 
representing the issue, and also from those who are gathering data from the 
Health Division. We are in an extraordinary information-gathering stage, way 
beyond what a statistical sampling would be. They went so above and beyond 
that. This is the first step. What we often do not do is get the statistical data. 
We are doing this probably in the way we should do many other things, by 
gathering the information first so we can establish plans and programs. This is 
not to say as they gather the data it is anonymous. That was a concern when 
this issue passed two years ago. When a school has a statistical challenge, it 
does not mean the State health officer is preempted from working with that 
school. In southern Nevada, they are doing that. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
My concern, again, is that we are collecting this data, we have gotten it, but we 
do not know if we have benefitted from it because we have not done anything 
with it. 
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CHAIR WIENER: 
That is why the school districts need the reference, to make sure they can still 
have the training. They want to take that step you are talking about, their 
commitment to this is profound. This is laying the foundation to get there. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Will this be brought back to us again? Does this have a sunset so it will be 
brought back to the next Legislative Session with information to continue this?  
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
The Legislative Committee on Health Care will be working in the interim. This is 
a process and this is something they want to build on so they are going to keep 
us informed. I can believe they are going to come back with the next step, but 
Ms. Lyons is going to address that. 
 
MS. LYONS: 
The bill indicates the school districts will come to the Legislative Committee on 
Health Care to examine the issues related to weight and height on page 4, 
section 4, of A.B. 191.  
 
 SENATOR WOODHOUSE MOVED TO DO PASS A.B. 191. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
This just gives it to the interim; it does not bring it back to the next Session. 
 
SENATOR WOODHOUSE: 
I withdraw my previous motion. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Is there anyone representing A.B. 191? Let us see if we can get 
Assemblyman Denis and when we get to the next work session we can respond 
to what his intentions are with the measure. We will roll A.B. 191 to the next 
work session and talk to the sponsor of the measure, Assemblyman Denis. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Let us now proceed to A.B. 219. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 219: Enacts provisions governing certain blood tests for 

children. (BDR 40-682) 
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 SENATOR WASHINGTON MOVED TO DO PASS A.B. 219. 
 
 SENATOR WOODHOUSE SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 

***** 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
I would like to ask Assemblyman Hardy who is absorbing the cost on A.B. 219?  
I am curious about the blood test; who pays for that? 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN JOSEPH (JOE) P. HARDY (Assembly District No. 20): 
It is all a blur for me, too. This is something we do already with Medicaid, 
where we see a child and we check a little box that allows them to have their 
blood drawn on early periodic screening diagnosis and treatment. As I recall, we 
do not have another source of funding. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
So, is this for every child in Nevada? 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN HARDY: 
Not every child in Nevada. I am at a disadvantage as I do not have my notes in 
front of me. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
It says health providers are to perform blood tests to determine the amount of 
lead in the blood of each child they serve. Who are the health-care providers? 
My concern is that we have a population where we have Medicaid, but we have 
that for uninsured, those in the range where they make too much, or they do 
not have a job that provides insurance. How much does it cost for that blood 
test and what are we mandating? I think we need to know the cost and if it is 
for every child in those ages. That was my concern and I did not know if it had 
gotten answered or not. 
 
MS. LYONS: 
This bill encourages providers to perform the blood test. It is not, as 
I understand it, a mandate requiring them to do the test, it is if someone 
encourages health-care providers to perform the tests. It is not a mandate 
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requiring them to test the children. It simply encourages them to test the 
children. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Assemblyman Hardy provided the amount of some of those charges but it is not 
mandated.  
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
There are some questions and answers provided by Assemblyman Hardy on 
page 34 of the work session document, Exhibit C. I wanted it on the record that 
we made sure we had asked those questions and it is not for every child.  
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
I will now open discussion on A.B. 393. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 393: Revises provisions governing charter schools. (BDR 34-

527) 
 
MS. MARTINI: 
This bill authorizes a charter school to establish certain enrollment priorities. The 
charter school may enroll a pupil who was enrolled in a preschool program at 
the charter school, or a pupil whose parent is employed full-time by the charter 
school. No amendments have been submitted for this measure. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
This is the one I would like to hold. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Do you want it held until Wednesday, May 13? 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
Yes, thank you. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We will now proceed to A.B. 428. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 428 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing the licensure of 

certain educational personnel. (BDR 34-985) 
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MS. MARTINI: 
This bill provides that an applicant holding a bachelor’s degree may be issued a 
special qualifications license under certain circumstances. No amendments have 
been submitted for this measure. 
 
 SENATOR WOODHOUSE MOVED TO DO PASS A.B. 428. 
 
 SENATOR CEGAVSKE SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Is there any discussion? 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.  
 

***** 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We will open the hearing on A.B. 425.  
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 425 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing the licensure of
  certain educational personnel. (BDR 34-817) 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
This is a simple amendment and one I requested. The amendment is on page 48 
of Exhibit C. This is a licensure bill as well, and I asked that it becomes effective 
upon passage and approval. This is the only amendment offered for A.B. 425. 
 
 SENATOR CEGAVSKE MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS A.B. 425. 
 
 SENATOR WOODHOUSE SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY  
 

***** 
 

CHAIR WIENER: 
We will open the hearing on A.B. 26. 
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ASSEMBLY BILL 26 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing charter schools. 

(BDR 34-411) 
 
MS. MARTINI: 
This bill revises the deadline for submission of an application for renewal of a 
written charter, revises provisions governing the exemption from annual 
performance audits for certain charter schools, and revises certain annual 
reports concerning the progress made by charter schools. 
 
You will see there is an amendment submitted in mock-up by the Legal Division. 
On page 9 of Exhibit C and on the top of page 10, you will see the amendment 
ties noncompliance back to the educational goals and objectives of the charter’s 
annual report to make it more objective. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
One of my concerns was to bring clarity to this measure. In a good-faith effort, 
we were offered the word “material” noncompliance. We were doing a lot of 
wordsmithing and I had asked Sara Partida to come up with something that 
made sense in the context of what we were doing. The language she offered, 
and I am very comfortable with it, addresses the concerns of having a tie-in 
with enough clarity to it to help us understand what we are working with. The 
word “material” got entwined with accounting. This is the language Ms. Partida 
has offered and is basically the amendment that is before the Committee now. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
I have somewhat of a concern and I need to beg permission of the Chair to hold 
this one, once again, until Monday. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
On Monday we have seven bills and we have work sessions at every meeting 
and we are backed up. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
I have been here a long time and I need to talk to Washoe County about this. It 
is a small adjustment. I need some more information and a modest clarification. 
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CHAIR WIENER: 
We will roll A.B. 26 to Monday. It will be the same and that piece is also in 
A.B. 100. This has the additional language and another amendment that was 
provided based on concerns voiced during the hearing. We shall open the 
hearing on A.B. 100. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 100 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing education. 
 (BDR 34-424) 
 
Ms. Martini: 
This is another charter school bill on behalf of the Department of Education that 
Chair Wiener noted the same amendment applying to A.B. 26 would be in this 
bill. The other amendment concerns the quarterly payment instead of the annual 
payment. I believe at the last hearing, Committee members questioned the need 
for a financial hardship clause in this bill in the event a charter school would be 
in hardship and not be able to make the quarterly payment, Exhibit C, page 23. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
It has the language from the other measure, A.B. 26, and has the additional 
provision for hardship if they cannot make the payments. Are you comfortable 
with this, Senator Washington? 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
Yes, that was the language I requested. 
 
 SENATOR WASHINGTON MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS A.B. 100. 
 
 SENATOR CEGAVSKE SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 

***** 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We will begin the business of the day and start our meeting in the order of the 
Agenda, and based on some requests we have had as well. We will open with 
A.B. 6. 
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ASSEMBLY BILL 6 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing certain 

emergency admissions to mental health facilities and hospitals. (BDR 39-
211) 

 
ASSEMBLYMAN HARDY: 
I am here to present A.B. 6 which was a committee bill. We had a large number 
of people and we came together with a way to do this bill in such a way that 
we had consensus. What I will distribute to you when we finally get the color 
copies are the dots we gave everybody to place on the board where they 
thought they should be. That is where the bill came from. We asked the Nevada 
Psychiatric Association folks what they would like to do and used their format 
to generate the bill as you see it with consensus being written into it (Exhibit D). 
 
In section 1 of A.B. 6, there was a question on using “shall” or “may.” Then 
there was the question of limiting to a licensed physician or not. In section 5, 
there was a choice between transported or admitted, and a medical clearance 
versus a concern. We gave everybody a dot, Exhibit D; they came up and said, 
“This is where we want to be.” These were hospital people, insurance people 
and anybody who had a “dog in this fight” and they were given an opportunity 
to express themselves in subcommittee, then we went to the full committee 
and it came out of the full committee which ratified what the industries and 
stakeholders had done.  
 
If I may, I will summarize A.B. 6. This bill revises the procedures for emergency 
admission of an allegedly mentally ill person to a mental-health facility. It 
changes the time before which a person must be examined from “before the 
person may be transported” to “before the person may be admitted” to a public 
or private mental-health facility. For those of us who have dyslexia, that is a 
little problem, but I think it will be clearer when they look at the bill. 
 
It also clarifies that a licensed physician on the medical staff of a mental-health 
facility may release a person by completing a certificate indicating the person is 
not mentally ill and it revises the time line for petitioning the court to hold 
someone involuntarily.  
 
Section 1 of A.B. 6 allows for a licensed physician to be the person who admits 
or releases a person. The bill refines that it is a physician on staff of a facility, 
not a random physician or practitioner not on the facility staff.  
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We struck out the term “Alzheimer’s disease,” recognizing Alzheimer’s disease, 
technically speaking, in some circles requires actual brain biopsy to make that 
diagnosis. We used “dementia delirium” so it would not require brain biopsy 
before releasing somebody from a hospital or mental-health facility. We covered 
the 48-hour holds, the 72-hour holds, admission and staff privileges.  
 
Section 5, subsection 2 of the bill states:  

If the person with a mental illness has a medical problem in 
addition to a psychiatric problem which requires medical treatment 
that requires more then 72 hours to complete, the licensed 
physician or physician assistant … or an advanced practitioner of 
nursing who has examined the patient, must: …  

 
The section continues with the process they must do in order to protect that 
patient so they can be treated medically and stabilized before they are treated 
with a mental-health admission or release. 
 
In section 5, subsection 7, the location where the patient could be examined 
could potentially be the Division. We did not want to put a burden on the 
Division of Mental Health and Developmental Services. If they are the ones who 
receive somebody who has been transported to them, even off the street, they 
would not be obligated to go through this examination admission process if they 
did not have the staffing, the financial means or the laboratory to do it. In other 
words, we did not want to put a financial or staffing burden on the Division for 
doing that. I think we resolved that concern with them. In section 6, we put in 
that the person who is releasing or admitting someone should not be within the 
first degree of consanguinity. A physician would be wise in not admitting mom 
or dad or child, but letting somebody else do that. That is, in essence, the bill. 
Again, I will give you a copy of our colored photo of how it all came about, 
Exhibit D. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
You addressed family members in the legislation to ensure a family member 
would not be engaged at this level. Up to this point, has that been permissible?  
 
ASSEMBLYMAN HARDY: 
Technically speaking, it is not wise, and rather than have a problem or potential 
problem, we thought it wise to put it in statute that way. 
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CHAIR WIENER: 
Are there any questions? We have several here who are in support of the 
measure, but we only show three people who want to testify. Please come 
forward. 
 
LAWRENCE P. MATHEIS (Executive Director, Nevada State Medical Association): 
We support the bill as it has been amended and in the reprint form. The 
physicians who worked closely with this were involved and indicated their 
support for it, and we support it as well. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Ms. Rowland, you have signed in as neutral. Please come forward. You have 
provided the Committee with a proposed amendment, so the spokesperson for 
the bill will stand by as well. 
 
LEE ROWLAND (Northern Coordinator, American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada): 
I am an attorney at the American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada (ACLU) and 
also the Northern Coordinator. We have proposed an amendment that would 
change one word of the bill from “may” to “shall” (Exhibit E). We proposed the 
amendment because we think the Constitution of the United States requires it. 
The ACLU is very concerned about the State’s use of one of the most 
extraordinary powers it has, which is committing someone without full due 
process. Of course, that is allowed only when someone is mentally ill to the 
point they pose a threat to themselves or someone else. There is federal case 
law based on the U.S. Constitution which says when there is not an acute 
medical issue, you cannot hold someone against their will unless they present 
that danger. 
 
Currently, the language in the bill states if there is a certificate signed by the 
attending physician, the attending physician may release a person if they certify 
that person is no longer someone with a mental illness. That is a term of art, as 
defined in the NRS, that means the person must be a danger to themselves or 
others. If you leave the “shall” language in, our concern is that you are basically 
queuing yourself up for a bunch of constitutional lawsuits if doctors opt not to 
release people when there is such a finding. I think you would automatically 
have a constitutional claim if there is a written finding from a doctor that you 
are no longer a danger to yourself or others, but we are going to hold you 
anyway. Anytime you are doing that, you are in violation of the Constitution, so 
I cannot imagine a situation where the needs of the bill and NRS have met and 
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such a certificate is issued, but they are going to continue to hold somebody 
against their will.  
 
Our concern is there is no constitutional authority to do so. Once the certificate 
has been filled out saying someone is not a danger, they must be released. That 
is it, just the one word. We think the Constitution requires it. We did also 
submit this along with more complicated amendments on the Assembly side, 
but the original language of the bill was “shall” and then in the group of 
amendments it got changed to “may.” We did offer this, but at the last minute, 
so this is our first chance to get it in. Again, we are stuck with just the 
one word this time. 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN HARDY: 
How many people do we have in an emergency room (ER) waiting for the 
psychiatrist to come in and evaluate somebody and say, “This person is fine, let 
my people go”? 
 
If an ER physician has seen a patient who has a mental-health issue, then the 
ER physician may not be in his or her comfort zone saying the person has no 
problems: I have my neck on the line on this person’s discharge, and therefore 
I am going to let this person go. If there is a question about whether or not to 
keep somebody, then the doctor needs to be able to keep somebody in the ER 
pending an official or more expert opinion on that person.  
 
There is a provision in almost every hospital about “against medical advice.” If a 
physician admits a patient who has a medical problem and no longer has the 
mental-health problem, he may still be a danger to himself because he took too 
much Tylenol, one of those poisons causing liver necrosis, leading the patient to 
wish he had not taken as much Tylenol in gestures of suicidal attempt.  
 
Just because you no longer have a mental illness does not mean you do not 
have a medical illness that is every bit as life-threatening as anything else. 
I think there are circumstances that could be justified for a doctor not being 
forced with the word “shall” to allow the person to leave. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Is there anyone else to come forward on A.B. 6? 
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SENATOR NOLAN: 
As far as the amendment goes, I think Assemblyman Hardy gave a very 
thorough explanation. It sounds as if you have a very tenuous consensus bill 
here, and I do not know that amending it at this point is going to be helpful. 
I would also like to have the other people who support the amended version of 
the bill give us their views. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
I can certainly call them forward. We do have a strong record of support from 
across the board.  
 
BILL M. WELCH (President/CEO, Nevada Hospital Association): 
I would like to speak in support of the legislation as it has been submitted to 
you in its first reprint, as Assemblyman Hardy presented it to you. I would like 
to compliment Assemblyman Hardy for the process he took us through. It was a 
very extensive process. There may be some varying themes on some pieces of 
it, but I believe overall this does meet the need and intent of all the parties 
concerned. Again, we support this legislation. We believe it provides a lead in 
some areas which were very important to us in dealing with the overcrowding 
of our hospitals, particularly with respect to patients in need of mental-health 
services. 
 
HAROLD G. COOK, PH.D. (Administrator, Division of Mental Health and 

Developmental Services, Department of Health and Human Services): 
I am here in support of A.B. 6 as it is amended. I am not a constitutional scholar 
so I cannot speak to the issue of changing the one word from “may” to “shall.” 
I do understand the clinical issue of allowing the practitioner to have a choice in 
the status of the patient, but I am neutral on that. The bill does provide for more 
efficient processing of people admitted to a facility based on “Application for 
Emergency Admission of an Allegedly Mentally Ill Person to a Mental Facility” 
(Legal 2000). For example, in April, more than 2,000 people were admitted to 
area hospitals in Clark County on Legal 2000. It was the single highest month 
for Legal 2000 in the last three to four years for which we have been tracking 
that information. It is important for us to continue to work on this process to try 
to expedite and provide a more efficient process for treating these individuals. 
I am in support of the bill as it is. I think it is a good start, and we just need to 
continue to work to make it better. 
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SENATOR NOLAN: 
To what do you attribute the increase? Is it coinciding with unemployment and 
some of the depression and other types of issues and stresses related to that? 
 
DR. COOK: 
I believe all of those things could play a part. It is interesting that through the 
first three months of the year, we did not see any increase and then there was 
a dramatic spike in April, so we are unclear as to what happened in April. We 
also saw an increase in northern Nevada. The facility in the north which 
typically runs about 55- to 65-percent occupancy is now at 90 percent. It could 
be the economic conditions have finally caught up with us.  
 
MS. ROWLAND: 
I will briefly respond to Assemblyman Hardy’s comment about the amendment 
and his hypothetical medical needs. It is clear, first from his work and then from 
his testimony that Assemblyman Hardy is undoubtedly an excellent and 
compassionate doctor. That hypothetical situation is precisely what we seek to 
prevent because there is no constitutional authority to administer medical care 
against someone’s wishes. For instance, some people who are religious do not 
believe in medical care. We cannot force them to go to the hospital because we 
know they are going to die and our concern is using the forced mental-health 
admission as a hook to then retain someone for medical reasons against their 
wishes. The U.S. Constitution does not permit that, and my concern is if the 
word remains “may,” and instances like that do occur, the State is 
unnecessarily setting itself up for litigation from those individuals. There is a 
difference between mental health and medical care. This bill deals with whether 
there is a certificate stating someone is no longer mentally ill in a way that they 
are a danger to themselves of others. Beyond that standard, you cannot forcibly 
retain someone in a hospital against their wishes.  
 
SARA PARTIDA (Committee Counsel): 
In the opinion of the Legal Division, this is not unconstitutional as drafted. We 
do not draft bills we believe would be unconstitutional without doing some type 
of research, and this is not one we have identified as conflicting with the 
U.S. Constitution.  
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
I can certainly schedule this for a work session. Would all of you be ready for 
Friday’s work session? 
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SENATOR NOLAN: 
Beyond the one proposed amendment we have, is there anything else?  
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
There are no other witnesses. There are no other amendments.  
 
SENATOR NOLAN: 
You, as the Chair, can put this into a work session, but it seems like one of 
those bills that I would make a motion on. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
I am here to facilitate whatever the Committee wants to do. I will entertain a 
motion.  
 
 SENATOR NOLAN MOVED TO DO PASS A.B. 6. 
 
 SENATOR WOODHOUSE SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

THE MOTION CARRIED. (SENATOR CEGAVSKE ABSTAINED FROM THE 
VOTE.)  

 
***** 

 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We will now proceed to A.B. 52. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 52 (1st Reprint): Requires hospitals in certain larger counties to 

provide a report of certain information concerning patients to the 
Legislative Committee on Health Care. (BDR S-448) 

 
KATHLEEN SILVER (Chief Executive Officer, University Medical Center of Southern 

Nevada): 
This is a bill on behalf of University Medical Center (UMC). I want to read a few 
things by way of background and then talk a little bit about the fact that the bill 
has been amended as outlined in my handout (Exhibit F). We are testifying in 
support of the bill, as amended at this point. 
 
When we originally introduced this bill, we began talking to the hospitals in the 
community about the need to do something along these lines. Originally, we felt 
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the problem was way out of control. I think just the introduction of the bill has 
helped raise the awareness among the other hospitals. Hospitals have agreed to 
work together to study the bill, as amended, over the interim, and allow us to 
determine whether or not the problems still exist to the same degree as in the 
past. 
 
The bill does state we would start reporting on June 1. Perhaps as a 
suggestion, if we could modify that to July 1, so it coincides, for most of us, to 
the fiscal year, it would be a more logical breakpoint. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Yes. We will need an amendment for that. Are there any questions for 
Ms. Silver? Even as the measure has been processing, progress has been made.  
 
MS. SILVER: 
I will say the situation has improved. The hospitals have stepped up to address 
the problem, understanding it was creating a burden for some of us. This is not 
to imply that most hospitals have a full complement of specialists where most 
specialties are covered. In Nevada, there are some challenges with certain 
specialties and we do acknowledge that. 
 
STACY SHAFFER (Service Employees International Union, Nevada): 
I represent the Service Employees International Union which represents 
18,000 health-care workers in Nevada and public health-care workers 
statewide, including the workers at UMC. We want to go on record in support 
of this legislation. 
 
BOBBETTE BOND (Health Services Coalition): 
We are in support of A.B. 52 and we look forward to its passage. My 
one comment for the record is it would be nice if this data was collected not 
just for ambulance transports between hospitals, but all ambulance transports 
coming into the hospitals. We have never been able to get the data about when 
ambulances come in, what kind of insurance the patient has and where they 
land. There have always been questions and issues, and information is needed 
about that. We would like to take the opportunity at this stage to expand that, 
though it is rather late for us to throw that in, so it can be part of the record 
and we can talk about it during the interim.  
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CHAIR WIENER: 
Just the introduction of the measure has opened the dialogue and certainly if 
that is an important part of it, nothing would preclude that from being 
considered in the quarterly report. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Looking at the fiscal note, who is paying for this study. 
 
MS. SILVER: 
It was agreed between the hospitals that we would cover the cost to the State. 
 
MR. WELCH: 
As Ms. Silver indicated, during the process of developing the legislation, the 
Nevada Hospital Association did bring together parties on both sides of this 
issue to discuss this proposed amended language. As part of that, we did agree 
the hospitals would fund the cost of this. Each would proportionally contribute 
to the cost. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Mr. Welch, you heard Ms. Bond suggest there could be some expanded dialogue 
about the ambulances. Would that be part of the dialogue as well? 
 
MR. WELCH: 
Currently in law, there is a requirement for ambulance transports to be reported. 
There was a standing committee, a patient transfer-of-care committee, which 
actively meets on a regular basis. In fact, I have staff attending that meeting 
today in Las Vegas. I am sure they would be more than happy to entertain her 
suggestion on ambulance transports that are being missed. I know this is 
legislation Senator Nolan has moved forward over the last two Sessions. All of 
the emergency medical services transport services are part of that committee as 
well as all the hospitals in Clark County. I am sure they would be more than 
happy to consider that through all of the existing process. 
 
SENATOR NOLAN: 
I am assuming when we talk about transfer of patients there is a myriad of 
different ways of taking transfers, either by ambulance, by nonemergent 
Medicar-type vehicles or by helicopter. The definition of transfer of the patient is 
that situation when we actually document and make arrangements for the 
receiving hospital to accept that patient. It would not be those patients who 
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need to go to another hospital because they need specialty care and must take 
themselves there in an ambulatory manner. I am assuming there are transfer 
papers arranged and transportation arranged as well. 
 
MS. SILVER: 
Sometimes it is a combination, but for the most part, this is designed to look at 
transfer from facility to facility. It does occasionally happen that a patient who 
is ambulatory is told to follow up at such and such a hospital because that 
patient needs to have this and that. It does happen that way, but what the bill 
is intended to track are the facility-to-facility transfers. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
You are the only three, including Stacy Shaffer, to have indicated you would like 
to come forward and testify on the measure. Again, I have stated we have 
several signed in “for” and several “neutral.” I show no one “against” so I will 
open discussion to anyone who opposed A.B. 52 to come forward. Is there any 
discussion on the measure?  
 
 SENATOR WOODHOUSE MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS A.B. 52 

WITH THE AMENDMENT TO COVER REPORTING AS SUGGESTED BY 
MS. SILVER AND TO CHANGE THE DATE ON PAGE 2, LINE 16, FROM 
JUNE TO JULY. 

 
 SENATOR BREEDEN SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Is there any discussion?  
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Also, for the record, just so we know the fiscal note has been taken care of, 
I do not know if that is in there or not.  
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
It is in the witness record in Mr. Welch’s testimony that they will cover the 
costs. 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED. (SENATOR WASHINGTON VOTED NO.) 
 

***** 
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CHAIR WIENER: 
I will open the hearing on A.B. 433.  
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 433 (2nd Reprint): Requires county hospitals in certain larger 

counties to provide outpatient cancer treatment as part of their care to 
indigent persons. (BDR 40-976) 

 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN PEGGY PIERCE (Assembly District No. 3): 
Assembly Bill 433 is the result of the closing of an outpatient oncology clinic at 
UMC last fall, in Las Vegas. When that happened, I was appalled. I am a person 
who was once told “you have cancer,” so I do know what that is like. I am 
fortunate, I have very good health insurance. I have, on occasion, thought about 
what it must be like to have a doctor say that to you when you have no health 
insurance and you have no place to turn. The fact is, I cannot imagine what that 
is like. It is too horrible to think about.  
 
When the oncology clinic closed, I looked at my community and said, “We are 
not a poor community.” Even at this point, when we are in the middle of such 
terrible economic times, we are not a poor community. This bill comes out of 
my conviction that this is not an acceptable choice for our community, to close 
a clinic like this and just send people out to the street to fare for themselves. To 
me, this is not an acceptable option for Clark County. This situation was 
highlighted, as I am sure most of you know, on a 60 Minutes piece about 
two months ago. I watched that, as many other people did, and it was 
heartbreaking. Once again, I looked at that and said, “This is not an acceptable 
option.” 
 
That is what this bill is about, and we amended it a little bit on the other side to 
make sure it said “outpatient” and made sure it applied to Clark County. That is 
how it has moved through the process. Through the process, I have spoken to 
people and had people say, “Yes, there are people still falling through the 
cracks.” This clinic is missed, and the aim of the bill is to find a way in our 
community to reestablish it. By all accounts, this was a wonderful clinic. The 
other aim of this bill is to remove this option from the table for all time. No 
matter what happens in the economy in the future, we will we never consider 
this again. 
 
That is the bill. There are a number of people to speak on this and I will start 
with Stacey Gross from Susan G. Komen for the Cure who is in Las Vegas, and 
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I believe Dr. Ellerton is also in Las Vegas. Tom McCoy is here from the 
American Cancer Society. 
 
STACEY GROSS, MPH, CHES (Community Programs Manager, Southern Nevada 

Affiliate of Susan G. Komen for the Cure): 
Our organization is dedicated to saving lives and ending breast cancer forever. 
Today, we are doing that with our advocacy efforts. Our affiliate receives calls 
daily from newly diagnosed women and those who are going through treatment 
and have found themselves without treatment options today. Can you imagine 
losing your job, and with it, your health insurance? Imagine learning that you 
have cancer. You would make some phone calls and realize because of your 
income in the past year you do not qualify for assistance. You never expected 
this would happen to you and you do not have a savings account for surgery, 
chemotherapy and radiation. You wonder where will you go, where is your 
safety net and will you be left to die. These are the questions we are hearing 
from patients in southern Nevada. 
 
In the past, oncology care at the hospital was the answer, and UMC’s program 
has saved thousands of lives in this state; however, since the closure of 
outpatient oncology services, uninsured patients are left with few, if any, 
options. Some have been able to find charity care, some have been able to 
negotiate generously discounted rates for treatment, some have qualified for 
government assistance and some have left the State to find safety-net care 
elsewhere. Most have done nothing. After months of making phone calls, they 
have given up. The wait for care does affect prognosis and chances of survival 
for these patients. The UMC will see these patients eventually, but at a much 
later stage in diagnosis when they need more intensive inpatient treatment and 
require much more costly medical care. 
 
This is no small problem. More than 11,000 Nevadans are diagnosed with 
cancer each year, about 30 people each day. Uninsured cancer patients are 
twice as likely to die from their cancer diagnosis within five years as those who 
have private health insurance, even when charity treatment care is available. 
 
As part of my role as an affiliate, I provide breast health navigation, helping 
patients get appropriate screening and helping them navigate through the 
system. In the past, when patients had exhausted all other options, they could 
turn to UMC, be set up on a payment plan oftentimes, and receive the breast 
cancer surgery, chemotherapy and radiation treatment that saved their lives. 
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Today, this is not an option. We are seeing a different type of patient: a 
middle-class patient whose annual income exceeds the limitations for 
government assistance and they cannot afford to pay for treatment.  
 
We have been criticized for supporting A.B. 433 and we are still seeing patients 
who have nowhere to go, so we will continue to support this bill. Although we 
recognize this problem is part of a much larger health-care issue, and it is just a 
symptom, these patients cannot wait for that issue to be solved. We 
acknowledge certainly the current economic situation and recognize this is a 
tough time for State and county budgets. We are concerned about the financial 
health and the future of the only county hospital in the State.  
 
Although funding has run out, cancer has not. We urge you to support A.B. 433 
to provide cancer care for our State’s most vulnerable. Help us close the gap by 
providing access to vital treatment services and improving chances of survival 
for disadvantaged Nevadans.  
 
Survivors with cancer should not depend on where they live, whether they have 
health insurance or how much money they earn. Please consider A.B. 433 to 
make sure all Nevadans have access to quality cancer care that could save their 
lives. I have submitted a brief outline of my testimony (Exhibit G).  
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Do you work with the Cancer Institute in Las Vegas? Do you refer several 
patients there?  
 
MS. GROSS: 
We do refer patients there if appropriate when they have health insurance that 
is accepted there, or when they can use patient navigation or other cancer 
resources that are available. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
I thought the Cancer Institute also took indigent patients with cancer. Is that 
not correct?  
 
MS. GROSS: 
The Cancer Institute does provide some charity care, especially for patients who 
qualify for current clinical trials, but in general, they have not expanded their 
charity care to take on the patients who would have been seen at UMC. 
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SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Can you tell me what the load is for cancer victims right now, how many we 
have? Does it stay much the same from month to month or year to year? Have 
we seen an increase or decrease? 
 
MS. GROSS: 
The number of cancer patients, for the most part, stays the same from year to 
year. We can expect about 11,000 Nevadans will be diagnosed with some form 
of cancer this year alone. That number has changed over the years, but in the 
short term, it will remain about the same.  
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Is it particularly male or female? Do we have greater numbers with females?  
 
MS. GROSS: 
No, cancer does not know gender. I think we see pretty equal numbers between 
the genders. My area of expertise is breast cancer. Of course, women are just 
proportionally affected in that area, although prostate cancer among men would 
be the equivalent. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Do we find more and more of both of those cancers that are going undetected 
longer, or are we catching them sooner? 
 
MS. GROSS: 
Early detection methods have improved over the years and we are definitely 
catching the cancers sooner, when treatment is easier and when chances of 
survival are greatest.  
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Do we have a society that puts off getting health care to get diagnosed? Have 
we noticed that we have more who are waiting until the later stages? 
 
MS. GROSS: 
I cannot confirm those numbers have changed, but I do know for individuals 
who do not have health insurance, they are more likely to postpone screening 
and early detection and treatment for diagnosed cancer. Serving the uninsured 
and underserved is part of our mission, and the health-care disparities between 
uninsured and insured are huge. 
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SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
One of the things I am concerned about now is the number of people who are 
uninsured because they have lost jobs. The number of unemployed has gone up 
so there are those without income, and those who do have incomes do not 
qualify for services. Where is the money to come from for the hospital to 
provide these services? I do not know if the sponsor has talked to the county or 
not. I have not heard from them. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We will go to southern Nevada for people who signed up to testify. 
 
JOHN ELLERTON, M.D.: 
I am speaking in favor of A.B. 433. Although this particular situation certainly is 
a window into the problems with our current health-care system in the Nation, 
I will speak to the current problem. I want to thank Assemblywoman Pierce for 
introducing the bill and the Committee for considering it and holding this 
hearing. Everybody in southern Nevada has tried to work together to solve some 
of the problems since the clinic was closed, including Clark County Social 
Services and the hospital.  
 
The fact is that this clinic, which existed for more than 30 years, was an 
integrated, care-delivery system for cancer patients. It provided some diagnostic 
services but certainly provided an integrated management system with surgical 
oncology, radiation oncology, medical oncology and other specialty areas. It 
served a very large population and, partly to answer some of the questions, the 
number of visits steadily increased over the past several years. Thousands of 
visits were scheduled every year and this number was going up every year and 
projected to continue rising. I am hoping it would have gone up even faster than 
expected, considering the current economic system. A large number of patients 
were being provided with care, in an integrated system, where all the 
information and physicians were basically available in one clinic.  
 
The closing of this clinic should not have happened, for several reasons, and 
I am not going to blame anybody; it should not have happened. Now, we are 
left with no place for these patients to be looked after. What is the issue at the 
current moment? For example, just today I have three patients in the hospital 
that I am seeing at UMC who are indigent and probably can get social services 
from Clark County, but the problem is that they are very sick. They have very 
complicated diseases, and while we have given them their first set of 
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treatments in the hospital, what happens then? Do they get scattered into the 
community because the private oncologists agree to take one or two of these 
patients? Some of these therapies are fairly complicated and these are sick 
patients. They may be better off looked after in the hospital at times, so that it 
may be hard to shift them. That is just today’s load.  
 
We did actually take the opportunity to look at the first two or three months of 
inpatients we were seeing at UMC who would subsequently need outpatient 
care but did not have resources, or specifically, did not have their own funds or 
insurance, it amounted to at least 10 or 12 inpatients a month with various 
kinds of cancers, in both sexes, who would be needing outpatient care. These 
patients are going to have to be sent out into the world. Clark County Social 
Services tries to find places for them. Certainly, in my private office I am seeing 
some of these patients. I am seeing an increasing number of people who have 
absolutely no resources coming to the office and asking for help. Some are 
willing and able to pay something; others just have to be helped out of the 
goodness of our hearts. Unfortunately, there is a limit to what you can do with 
that kind of care, but we do help, working with those patients to get the 
medications they need, etc. 
 
Demand was enormous and rising before the clinic was closed, and the demand 
continues. Remember, I am only giving you a snapshot of the patients we see in 
the hospital. I am not telling you about the people who may be out in the 
community, such as the ones who wander into my office, often with advanced 
disease, but asking if we can look after them—getting them diagnosed and 
treated, getting them pain medications, etc. I have to believe there is a whole 
other group of patients that we do not count in the number that would have 
been referred to the UMC oncology clinic.  
 
I am perfectly realistic. I understand the financial pressure on the State, county 
and on the hospital. The hospital has taken some pretty egregious hits recently 
in its financial situation. I am not sure this was the place to cut, but certainly 
I understand the problem they are having. Where is the money going to come 
from? I would say that now that this clinic has closed, other than the private 
practitioners who have agreed to take on some patients, if it is through social 
services or just off the street, nobody else has stepped up to the plate to look 
after this group of people. I would ask the Senators to take that into careful 
consideration when looking at what to do with the disproportionate-share 
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money. I think we are proving that UMC really deserves that money and that 
would certainly help to support this effort. 
 
There is an across-the-board Medicaid cut, but UMC takes a disproportionate 
hit, as you know, from that cut because of the large percentage of Medicaid 
money they get. A couple of areas, if somewhat restored or all restored, could 
certainly help to pay for this. I have been talking with some private money 
sources and I think part of the problem is that often people focus on drug costs; 
they are very expensive and a whole other issue. Clark County Social Services 
ends up paying more because of the way this is organized since the hospital 
gets a discount on outpatient drugs and, for the most part, if the patient is 
really indigent they do not pay for the drugs at all in the hospital setting. The 
hospital has an aggressive recovery system to get these drugs replaced and the 
drug companies usually supply them. The experience around the Country, even 
in indigent clinics, is that the drug cost is not the issue. The issue is the fact 
that you need highly skilled nurses, which UMC had, an excellent cadre of 
support services above and beyond the standard hospital for radiology, 
pathology, etc., to support this kind of effort. 
 
SENATOR NOLAN: 
The big question is the fiscal note. This is not the Senate Committee on 
Finance, but I think it will help us in considering the bill and give the Committee 
some ideas on how we can try to continue this. Sixteen years ago, my wife was 
diagnosed with cancer when she was pregnant with my second son and was 
treated at UMC with surgery. We had good insurance and she did go on to 
UCLA to be successfully treated. I asked myself that same questions, when 
I heard that part of this facility was closing, about the poor people and some of 
the people who had good insurance but are now unemployed. We have to face 
these questions and I am committed to help you find a way to fund this. It 
would help us to find out what the cost is. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
There are fiscal notes that have been provided, but we are not sure if they are 
revised based on the second reprint of the bill. Clark County’s fiscal note is 
substantial. We do not know which version that is. 
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TOM MCCOY (Government Relations Director, American Cancer Society-Cancer 

Action Network): 
The American Cancer Society is interested and supports this bill for one very 
strong reason: we are committed to access to care. As Dr. Ellerton has said, the 
federal folks are talking about it. We do not know where that is going to go, all 
we can address here in Nevada is where we are in Nevada.  
 
At this stage of cancer research, prevention programs, screening, early 
detection and so forth, we know that we can save 60 percent of all cancer 
deaths if we have early-detection and early-treatment prevention. Those sorts of 
things are part of the oncology outpatient clinic but also part of some other 
issues that are not necessarily associated with this bill. 
 
I have submitted a Cancer Action Network handout titled, “Nevada, The Cost of 
Doing Nothing Through the Cancer Lens” (Exhibit H). I would suggest you take 
a look at it at some point. Also included are detailed excerpts from my 
testimony today (Exhibit I). 
 
As it was pointed out, there were 11,370 new cancer cases last year in Nevada 
of all different types of cancer. We had 4,700 deaths, so I am going to apply 
the 60 percentile that I just mentioned; we could save 2,800 people in Nevada. 
I am not going to put a price on a life, and I do not think anybody in this room is 
going to put a price on a life. What I am going to talk about is a few hundred or 
a few thousand dollars now for early treatment and early-prevention screening 
as opposed to $200,000 to $300,000 later to keep somebody alive. The 
economics are so obvious for the State, county and all the elements involved, 
hospitals and so forth; the key to this is to get to cancer early. In the early 
stages of cancer, such as in breast cancer, if you get it early, the five-year 
survival rate is 98 percent. If you do not get to it early, the survival rate is 
27 percent. If we are talking about indigent cancer patients and charity cases, 
these are individuals who are going to cost Nevada if we do not get them early. 
 
My request to you is to vote now to do pass this particular bill, A.B. 433, and 
to fund later what we need to do to take care of our health problems in Nevada. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We have three other measures and we are losing members to the Finance 
Committee very quickly. Are there any questions of the witness? 
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RYAN BEAMAN (Southern District Vice President, Clark County Fire Fighters 

Local 1908): 
I am here today to extend, on behalf of the Clark County Fire Fighters 
Local 1908, an unqualified endorsement of this important legislation. I have 
submitted copies of my prepared testimony (Exhibit J). 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
The offer on behalf of the firefighters would have been what amount? How 
would that have been able to fully restore the oncology program, based on the 
conditions that you offered? 
 
MR. BEAMAN: 
As I stated in my testimony, we had been in talks for months with 
two individuals; the chairman of the county commission and the county 
manager only. We had looked at our collective bargaining agreement and offered 
approximately $4 million in benefits we wanted to give back, but we wanted to 
see it go where it would be used for services, not just back to the Las Vegas 
general fund. We brought this forward to the chair and to the county manager. 
The county manager said that would only help out to open the clinic for one 
year. My response to that is, “That is one more year than it is right now.” 
Maybe times will be better a year from now and they could provide that service.  
 
MS. SILVER: 
On behalf of UMC, we are here to testify in opposition to A.B. 433. We are 
certainly not in opposition to helping cancer patients; that is not what we are 
saying here. We have cared for cancer patients, as Dr. Ellerton has pointed out, 
for well over 20 years. The issue had to do with the financial challenges facing 
the hospital and we had to make some difficult choices. It does need to be on 
the record that the patients that we were caring for at the time the decision 
was made continued to be cared for at UMC. Of those patients, some are still 
getting chemotherapy at UMC. We did decide to take no new patients after that 
date. It was our belief that additional resources would step forward in the 
community and, the way the bill is written right now, the maker of the bill did 
agree to scale down the language a little bit so that it says “indigent residents 
of Clark County.” Well, the indigent residents of Clark County are currently 
being cared for by Clark County Social Services. The indigent patients are being 
taken care of; the need for this bill to take care of indigent patients does not 
exist.  
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It is really the bigger picture that some of the testimony you have heard has 
addressed, which is the fact that patients who do not qualify for indigent 
subsidies or patients who find themselves uninsured, are the patients who are 
having difficulty with access to care. There is an option to Access Health that 
Clark County Social Services has helped enable, and that is that self-pay 
patients are able to go to Access Health and make payment arrangements with 
some of the providers.  
 
I think the real issue here is, and Senator Cegavske mentioned it earlier, what 
we are really talking about is universal health care for a certain class of patients 
that I do not think Clark County can afford, UMC cannot afford and right now 
the State of Nevada cannot afford. This is the challenge that this bill presents to 
this body, and basically to all of you in the Legislature: how do you fund this? If 
we were just looking at one year’s operating deficit for the oncology 
department, under past experience we are in the neighborhood of about 
$4 million. If you expand that to say you must take care of all uninsured and 
figure out how you are going to do that, that number is unknown to us at this 
point. If you do so for the cancer patients, what do you do for the heart-failure 
patients, for patients with kidney disease? You are focusing on one class of 
patients and I understand that it is an emotional decision, a very emotional 
discussion to have to have, but the reality is that I do not think we are prepared 
as a State or county to say that we have the ability to care for everybody and it 
is not going to be at any cost. I am not sure how anyone is intending to be able 
to do that.  
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
I do not want to judge the decisions; obviously, we are having to make critical 
decisions as well. My question pertains to the purpose of the county hospital, 
the prioritization of health services that are offered by that hospital and the fact 
that the hospital is a separate entity from the county and has certain obligations 
to meet based on its status as the only truly public hospital in the State. So, at 
a cost of $8 million, if these figures are right, just to serve indigents over a 
two-year period, how is that not able to be prioritized in the budget process at 
UMC? 
 
MS. SILVER: 
The decision tree that we followed when we made this decision was to try to 
protect the services that we felt were core to our being an acute-care hospital. 
This is not the typical environment for outpatient chemotherapy. Outpatient 
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chemotherapy in our community, by and large, is delivered in physicians’ 
offices, it is not to be delivered in a hospital setting. When we looked at our 
core services we asked what do we provide that the other hospitals do not? 
Those services are level I trauma, burn and HIV treatment. So we said, which 
things do we try to maintain and which do we have to sustain over the future 
that nobody else is going to be able to provide in our place? As we looked at 
the services, we tried to cut the things that were not typically provided in the 
hospital setting.  
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
You indicated outpatient oncology is primarily provided in physicians’ offices. 
They do not have the obligation to serve the indigent, so how do you address 
that when UMC is? 
 
MS. SILVER: 
The indigent patient is being taken care of.  
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
That is out of charity, as I understand it, not out of an obligation to serve. 
 
MS. SILVER: 
No, Senator. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
What I would like to hear is how you are specifically ensuring that those 
services are provided, because that is an obligation to serve, in my opinion. 
 
MS. SILVER: 
The Clark County Social Services has actually developed contracts with multiple 
providers in southern Nevada to provide services to the indigent. 
 
NANCY MCLANE (Director, Clark County Social Services): 
From the day that UMC closed its oncology center, we began making 
arrangements to ensure access to treatment for every qualified indigent cancer 
patient. I am happy to report that for those individuals there has been no 
interruption in their care. We are working with local providers and Great Basin 
HealthNet, formerly Access Health, to make sure that services are available and 
we have a referral process in place to transition patients from UMC inpatient 
treatment to outpatient oncology services in the community. As of April 14, 
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42 eligible clients diagnosed at the closure of the UMC oncology clinic have 
been receiving cancer treatment through our contracted providers and Great 
Basin HealthNet. Five of these people have become Medicaid-eligible since the 
start of their treatment. All of them were diagnosed by UMC and UMC 
continues to be a partner in their care, providing laboratory work, radiology and 
biopsies for these patients. The clients who were receiving oncology services on 
an outpatient basis at UMC prior to the closure are continuing to receive their 
care. When they finish the course of treatment, we transition them into the 
community for follow-up. 
 
The Nevada Cancer Institute has rejoined us in this partnership after they had 
previously stepped out of this partnership. They are back with us and are 
working with us on transitioning these people into the community. We are 
treating 18 different types of cancer, including breast cancer, lung, colon, liver, 
lymphoma, leukemia and various gynecological cancers. I do not have a total 
cost analysis right now, but we do generally provide payment at Medicaid rates. 
For people who become unemployed in this economic climate, Clark County 
Social Services also provides payment for Consolidated Omnibus Budget 
Reconciliation Act coverage for those who have a medical need. See the 
provided text for the remainder of my testimony (Exhibit K). 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Your remarks seemed to indicate services were just for those who were served 
by the oncology program. What about a new patient, a new person or new 
residents of Clark County who need the services?  
 
MS. MCLANE: 
For the people who are diagnosed at UMC, we are accepting referrals. We have 
always accepted referrals from other sources and refer them into the 
community. For example, if someone had insurance, went to a private hospital, 
got a diagnosis there and were receiving care in the community, then suddenly 
lost their insurance. We have been transitioning them into the community as 
well, so there are sources available to them.  
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Clark County Social Services has been providing these services through 
contracts. How have you been reimbursed? 
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MS. MCLANE: 
We are using our indigent medical fund because they are qualified county 
indigents and that is what our agency exists to do.  
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
How is that different from what UMC was doing? Why could not what was 
being done before continue, utilizing that process? 
 
MS. MCLANE: 
They were being paid for treating oncology patients but by putting them in the 
community, we feel we have greater depth. We feel it has been somewhat of a 
transparent, seamless process because we have had no interruption in care. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
I cannot argue on that point because I do think there is always an access issue. 
People know that if they are indigent, the place they can go is UMC. That has 
to be at the forefront of this. The other part, as I said earlier, is UMC has that 
obligation, not Clark County. You are two separate entities even though you are 
governed by essentially the same members. You are two separate entities and 
I still feel that UMC should be doing this. If there was funding that you got 
reimbursed for, then it really begs the question, “Why did you have to cut this if 
you are being paid for it?” 
 
Ms. SILVER: 
There are two things that need clarification. The responsibility for indigent care 
actually rests with the county. One of the reasons the indigent fund exists for 
Clark County Social Services is the line item on the property tax bill that goes 
into the indigent care fund for services to the Clark County Social Services’ 
population. That is where the obligation legally lies for care of the indigent. 
 
Taking a whole different approach to that, the public hospital’s mission and 
values are to take care of the people who need us the most. We do not ask 
about their ability to pay, we take care of them; we take care of a lot of them. 
This is where you walk a fine line because the indigent population, as defined in 
statute, is the population that Ms. McLane’s area takes care of. We are now 
talking globally about patients in general who need all the services that 
Ms. McLane provides who may come to us and not have the ability to pay. That 
is a whole different discussion than just the discussion around oncology. We 
continue to meet and support that mission when we are able to do that.  
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What we are trying to do here is to shrink some of the things that we are 
exposed to. We probably became too many things to too many people; we 
probably offered services that went beyond our core model that is not typical 
for a hospital. That is why we are having this discussion today, because of that 
belief that we should continue to provide the service because we used to 
provide it. If there was no other way that it could be provided in the community, 
I absolutely would agree with you 100 percent that we should be the ones to do 
it.  
 
JAMES WADHAMS (Nevada Hospital Association): 
I demonstrate the fact that the dialogue between Senator Horsford and these 
two ladies goes way over my head, with probing questions and compelling 
answers. We sympathize with the difficulties that UMC has in making those 
decisions. Certainly the obligations, wherever they fall between Clark County 
and UMC, demonstrate a larger problem that we are experiencing in health care, 
and that is maintaining the proper funding for the maintenance of service. We 
are simply in support of UMC.  
 
GEORGE STEVENS (Chief Financial Officer, Clark County): 
I would be remiss if I did not correct something that was entered into the 
record. I cannot speak to the offer that Mr. Beaman made to turn over 
$4 million to fund the oncology program at UMC. I was not party to any 
conversations like that with them, but I think for the record it is important to 
note that the Clark County Fire Department is funded by the Clark County Fire 
Service District which is a separate, dedicated tax rate that people pay for that 
service. There would be no legal basis or legal ability to take any money from 
the Fire Service District and transfer that to UMC. That would not in any way 
be a possibility in terms of funding this program. 
 
JUSTINE HARRISON (Nevada Cancer Institute): 
I would like to respond to Senator Cegavske’s earlier question regarding charity 
care provided by the Nevada Cancer Institute. Although we are not a safety-net 
organization, nor have we received any funding to provide patient care, we 
always have and continue to provide charity care to our patients. The patient 
population that we have seen in need of charity care has indeed expanded. Not 
only are the new patients coming to us with a need for charity care, many of 
our existing patients who previously had insurance but have lost it due to 
economic difficulties are now charity-care patients as well. We continue to work 
with the community to find ways to open access to care for all and the biggest 
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challenge here lies not within the scope of those who meet that county 
definition of indigence, but it truly is the people who do not qualify under the 
criteria for Clark County Social Services and those who do not qualify for 
Medicaid. There is a big gap there. As community providers, the Nevada Cancer 
Institute and many others are coming together to serve the patients to the best 
of our abilities. There are limits for each provider as we seek to provide care to 
all those who need it. There are financial limits to doing so and we are all 
stretching as far as we can. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Are you turning away any cancer patients at all? 
 
MS. HARRISON: 
I am not aware of turning away any cancer patients. We have a great patient 
navigation service, so as patients come to us with different needs, we have 
been able to connect them with resources. Often that is making them aware of 
resources previously unknown to them, such as Medicaid or Clark County Social 
Services, for which they do qualify. One of the difficult things for a cancer 
patient is just navigating the entire system and finding out what resources are 
there that may be available to help.  
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Do you feel that the community is providing for those in need? 
 
MS. HARRISON: 
I feel that the community is trying to the best of its ability to provide to those in 
need, but if your question is, “Is everybody who needs the care getting access 
to care?” at any level, whether it be prevention, detection, biopsies, diagnosis, 
ongoing treatment and follow-up afterward, I do not believe so. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
I would ask Ms. McLane of Social Services the same question. I want to be sure 
that we are meeting the need with services for the community or if we are not. 
From your testimony, people coming to you are getting their needs met. Is that 
correct? 
 
MS. MCLANE: 
If they are referred to us and are qualified as indigents under NRS 428, which is 
our Band-Aid, then yes, they are receiving care. 
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SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
I want to go to the level of patients who are in between jobs or have lost jobs 
or have jobs but no insurance, or do not qualify for state or federal dollars. What 
is happening to that group?  
 
MS. MCLANE: 
We refer those folks to Great Basin HealthNet for their self-pay program which 
is deeply discounted. The other group that needs to be included is 
undocumented people who would also be referred to Great Basin HealthNet. If 
we cannot serve them, they can. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Is there anyone here from Great Basin HealthNet? Everyone is concerned that 
we are not meeting the needs and so I am trying to make sure that we are. It 
sounds to me like they are being met, but I do not know because I do not have 
any statistics, or anything other than “they said, you said.”  
 
MS. MCLANE: 
From our perspective, we are treating the 41 newly diagnosed indigent clients 
who were diagnosed at the closure of the clinic. That was as of two weeks ago; 
there are probably more now. We contacted Great Basin HealthNet because we 
were hearing about people needing care and we knew there was an 
undocumented population, a population that would not meet our criteria and 
would need access to care. They created a partnership with Comprehensive 
Cancer Centers to help meet that need. This is a self-pay program so people 
who absolutely cannot pay but do not meet indigent criteria would be an issue. 
I do not have their figures, and I do not know what their payments are. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
I would like to hear from Great Basin HealthNet if we have an opportunity. 
I know we are really getting out of time and we cannot do it today. We could 
have staff request information from Great Basin HealthNet because it sounds 
like that is one of the other pieces to this puzzle. I would like to know. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We will not be moving this measure tonight; we have additional processing to 
do on A.B. 433. We will close the hearing on A.B. 433. We will open the 
hearing on A.B. 112. 
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ASSEMBLY BILL 112 (1st Reprint): Establishes provisions relating to the 

coordinated response to public health emergencies and other health 
events. (BDR 40-214) 

 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Assemblywoman Sheila Leslie is chairing another committee. She did provide a 
copy of her testimony, and we will read Assemblywoman Leslie’s statement 
into the record (Exhibit L). 
 
MR. MATHEIS: 
I think Assemblywoman Leslie’s comments basically set the predicate for this. 
This is another of the bills that address issues that came out of the 
hepatitis C outbreak. A number of the issues addressed were those of how to 
prevent a future recurrence of anything like that. You and other committees 
have processed a number of bills dealing with the oversight, the regulation, 
assurance of infection control activities, all those public health measures and 
regulatory measures. A number of bills have been introduced to deal with the 
issues of how the various public authorities dealt with the outbreak once it had 
occurred and where the breakdowns occurred in the system. Some of that is 
addressed in bills that give clear direction to agencies as to what their authority 
is and how to use it, because there was confusion, or at least there seemed to 
be confusion. There was enough confusion that there were delays in 
responding, and in some cases those delays have made really moving beyond 
that outbreak issue very difficult. The coordination and sharing of information 
was clearly problematic. 
 
This bill takes one more step, and that is to close the loop. It is seriously 
focused on one thing: what happens if the public health authorities become 
aware that a problem has emerged because of an event in a licensed health-care 
facility or in the practice of a licensed health-care professional? This is not about 
the disaster/emergency management programs that we have for an outbreak of 
the swine flu (H1N1 flu) or for natural disasters, but rather how to make sure 
the public agencies that have overlapping of sometimes complementary 
authority do their jobs and are able to do their jobs.  
 
If you take the hepatitis C outbreak as a case study, there have been 
three outbreaks in health-care settings since our outbreak a year ago; one in a 
heart clinic in North Carolina, one in a very busy dialysis center in New York and 
one in a cancer clinic. That adds up to over 100 of these in the last decade of 
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which 33 have specifically led to hepatitis outbreaks. This is a problem that, 
while it happens only occasionally in any state, and one would hope we never 
see it again, means a lot of agencies that do not normally confer with each 
other could be put on the spot very quickly. It has happened in Nevada, it is 
happening elsewhere and we should make sure there is clear direction the next 
time it does happen on how to make sure the State agencies are properly 
cooperating with the front end of whatever the event is.  
 
That is what A.B. 112 does. On the bottom of page 2, section 15.5, 
subsection 1, it states that this is an event or an emergency that comes to the 
public in a health-care facility or in the office of a provider of health care. These 
are the settings in which this would arise. The people who would be identifying 
that something has happened would be the health authorities: the Southern 
Nevada Health District, the Washoe County Health Department, Carson Health 
and Human Services or the State Health Division. Those are the public health 
entities which would get the sort of epidemiology that would allow them to 
identify that something has happened in a health-care setting.  
 
This bill requires that if it is thought that a serious event has occurred involving 
state-licensed professionals and state-licensed facilities, the Governor be 
informed of the event. The Governor would then determine whether or not this 
was elevated to the level that it needed multiagency response. The Governor 
would then identify which State agencies have specific statutory responsibility 
for something associated with the issue.  
 
In the case of the hepatitis outbreak, it was the State Health Division that had 
the primary role. They have made a lot of changes operationally, in their 
regulations and in their structure. They have really tried to react to how they did 
not respond, or could have better responded, but that is only one agency. There 
are at least three professional licensing boards that have responsibilities and 
they license people who work in those settings: doctors, nurses and others. 
Probably the State Board of Pharmacy has responsibilities in this area. The 
Governor would do an assessment of this information from the Carson City 
Health and Human Services concerning what, when and where something had 
happened and identify those State agencies that have a responsibility. He would 
put together a team with a point person from each of those agencies. The 
Governor would ensure coordination with the Office of the Attorney General to 
make sure that all of those agencies immediately did the things they were 
supposed to be doing and not going into silos trying to conduct their own 
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investigation based on their narrow part of what they were supposed to be 
doing and not sharing information. By not sharing information they could not 
fulfill their roles; nobody would have the full picture. This would set up a team 
which would be able to make sure the public is getting the same story, the 
same information. If it comes from four or five different places, that information 
has a very high probability of coming out in different ways. Even when people 
who try to say the same thing say it in different ways, it sounds different and 
the story gets confused. The public part of what you do in a situation like this 
has to be to make sure the public is properly informed and informed in a timely 
way. If you head off hysteria, you create a situation where public safety can be 
assured. 
 
As long as this group is meeting, it would be through the State health officer, or 
if the State health officer has a conflict, they would meet with someone similar 
appointed by the Governor. You may remember that when the hepatitis 
outbreak occurred, we did not have a State health officer and so we 
recommended that one of the past State health officers be appointed and 
fortunately Dr. Mary Guinan was willing to come back. This would assure 
coordination throughout the process with communication with all of the relevant 
authorities throughout the process including the Legislature and the Governor. 
At the end of the process, they would be evaluating all the various State 
agencies, making recommendations to the Legislature or Governor if there were 
statutes or other things that needed to be changed.  
 
This is filling in one extra step in the process of making sure that everything we 
learned from the hepatitis C outbreak would click together and making sure that 
the law is strong enough to be able to avoid the problems in being able to 
effectively respond.  
 
Because we do not think that these kinds of instances happen all that often, the 
value of having this procedure clearly defined in statute is institutional memory. 
The next time, rather than everybody trying to go to their own statutes and 
figure out whether we could or could not do this, whether we had talked about 
it or not with this or that agency, it would be very clear about everybody’s 
authority and they would be able to move expeditiously, which was something 
that was not done. That is the purpose of, and what A.B. 112 tries to do.  
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CHAIR WIENER: 
On page 3 of A.B. 112, concerning lines 1 and 2, where it reads “health care 
facility or office of a provider of health care,” would that be referenced 
statutorily as to who the health-care providers are?  
 
MR. MATHEIS: 
It is in section 15.4, “Provider of health care.” 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
There is a passing reference to pharmacists and, dealing with this in another 
measure that I am sponsoring, how would you envision the pharmacist? In the 
office of a health-care provider, how does that capture the pharmacist; what 
would the scenario of a pharmacist be?  
 
MR. MATHEIS: 
I do not think it would be filling prescriptions, but if a pharmacist is used to 
come in to provide oversight of the pharmacy in a licensed facility, supervising 
the handling of drugs, accounting for them and all of that. That is part of one of 
these situations. It could be an event where there is enough concern that 
whatever happened did not happen to just one person, and we would make sure 
that both the setting and any patient involved would be safe. There are 
provisions where the Governor has done a general survey of the agencies that 
are probably involved, and as they start to investigate, it is obvious there should 
be somebody else at the table.  
 
SENATOR NOLAN: 
What the bill is getting to is necessary. We have had instances in the past, and 
probably the greatest faux pas experienced in interagency and public 
communication was the Pacific Engineering Production Company of Nevada 
(PEPCON) plant when it blew up and we had a plume of ammonium perchlorate, 
a brown cloud, floating over the City of Henderson. Information was 
disseminated on what it was, how dangerous it was and what was coming out 
of the news from a dozen different sources was terrifying. It caused 
self-evacuation of the City of Henderson, with people flooding out, and in that 
evacuation were multiple forms of accidents, congestion and everything else. It 
was really a problem, and I understand exactly. We have so many different 
medical service response components for all different types of mass casualty 
incidents and major issues. Could you find something that exists through the 
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State Emergency Response Commission without creating yet another committee 
and board of the same people who get together and meet regularly?  
 
MR. MATHEIS: 
The first bill actually did try to create a much more elaborate complementary 
system and was really beyond what was intended. There is a system in place 
and I think the PEPCON-type issue has been addressed. More important than 
anything else would be the changes in emergency disaster management since 
September 11, 2001, that various systems have been put into place.  
 
Because of specific responsibilities involved with a PEPCON-type incident, the 
Board of Medical Examiners and their licensees would be at the table with the 
State Health Division.  
 
There is no permanent committee and when an incident occurs, the Governor 
would be able to make sure that any state agencies that are going to be 
working on this immediately get together. They would have a point person so 
they would not lose valuable time, and even more importantly, they would not 
lose valuable information they needed and needed to share.  
 
DR. LUANA J. RITCH, Ph.D. (Chief, Bureau of Health Statistics, Planning & 

Emergency Response, Health Division, Department of Health and Human 
Services): 

I am also in charge of the Public Health Preparedness Program and Emergency 
Medical Services and the Health Planning Unit as well. To further address 
Senator Nolan’s question, the original version of this bill was much more 
elaborate and probably stepped over some of those other avenues that we have 
for multiple-agency coordination, particularly for a classic emergency. I applaud 
Larry Matheis for his hard work and long hours in discussing this bill. This is 
filling a gap in instances like a disease outbreak in a health-care facility. It is not 
affecting the broader community; however, it could, and that is why public 
health gets involved. Professional licensing boards for health-care facilities with 
professions such as physicians, osteopaths, nurses and nurse practitioners have 
no particular committee or existing group to address systemic events. There is 
no one entity to which different licensing boards report. 
 
The bill was also restructured in section 15.5, page 2, line 30. We inserted 
language that says “Except as otherwise provided in chapter 414 of NRS …” 
because NRS 414 is the emergency management statutes and we wanted to be 
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very clear we are talking about a unique setting here with these kinds of things 
that happen. We tried very hard to rewrite and take out the word “public health 
emergency” because we knew that would cause concern, but we could not 
figure out any other way to describe what happened, for example, in the 
hepatitis C outbreak. That is why that language is in there. It is very clear we 
are talking about a very narrow, defined event that happens in health-care 
facilities and may also extend to certain health-care provider settings. When you 
look at health-care providers that are not part of a health facility that may be 
doing in-office procedures, that could also cause some of the things we have 
seen. 
 
We separated it and tried to rewrite the bill to very narrowly look at the 
multiagency. We are really talking about licensing and regulatory agencies, not 
the emergency response agencies. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Would this have helped with the H1N1 flu? It went up rapidly, and then down. 
Everything got out of hand. It is an issue right now and people are afraid to 
travel if they have infants. It is so scattered around. Would this help with that, 
in your opinion? 
 
DR. RITCH: 
It is always good practice to have public health people leading when there is a 
public health emergency. This bill helps us when it comes to health-care 
facilities. It would not necessarily help us in the response to H1N1 flu, the 
2009 Norovirus. You saw other publicity last week surrounding the receipt of 
the strategic national stockpile. I like to tell people, public health is the invisible 
service, and we have just gone invisible. We are still working H1N1 flu and we 
will be working it through the summer, watching what happens in the southern 
hemisphere. We will be working it again when we get a vaccine available in the 
fall. I think the very visible thing is that we have a lot of emergency responders 
out there. That is not helping now, but the concern is still there. We are going 
to see a lot of cases pop up during the next several weeks as laboratory testing 
catches up. We are still in a situation where the illness we are seeing is 
generally a mild-to-moderate illness. We are not really concerned right now how 
sick people are getting; we are watching carefully because it is attacking 
younger people. It will not be without deaths, it will not be without very serious 
illness, particularly in people who have co-occurring conditions.  
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This bill will help us perhaps if we had a health-care facility where we saw 
influenza going rampantly through that facility. It would help us determine if it is 
provider practices or what they are not doing to control infectious disease 
within that facility. It would help in that kind of situation. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
What would all of this encompass? I know the premise of what you have done 
and I pray we never have anything happen like that again. You have talked to 
the Governor and the Attorney General, and everybody is comfortable with all of 
this. We have the Legislative Committee on Health Care; it is interesting to have 
both be a part of it if we are not in session. Everybody has been apprised of the 
agencies presently involved; now we are all supportive of this concept. 
 
MR. MATHEIS: 
This issue has been worked out as a general issue, but was not a bill draft in 
your subcommittee on health care. All of those parties were apprised of that. 
When the bill draft actually came up, it did not say exactly what the intention 
was. I am not aware that anyone is opposed.  
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
Would the amendment take the cost away? Did that help the Health Division? 
 
DR. RITCH: 
Yes, the amendment did take out the cost. The original bill established a 
standing committee, and of course there are always costs associated with that. 
This creates a committee, task force or concept-type, that would only come 
together when one of these events occurs. That would be a rare event, we 
hope. 
 
If you do have one of these events, they are very expensive. We had to devote, 
just for public information and other things, nearly half a million dollars, to the 
hepatitis C outbreak last year. You do have costs when you have one of these, 
but it is hard to put a fiscal note on something that you are hoping never 
happens. As it is, if one of these things does not happen, there is no cost. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
If something happens, then we create something. In your view, this is a 
precaution for the future. 
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MR. MATHEIS: 
There is guidance in the statute as to what to do if something like this happens. 
This is to identify those agencies that already have statutory authority to do 
something. They will be spending money to do their thing anyway, so to 
coordinate it, you should get the best use of whatever resources have to be 
expended, and there will be emergency supplements. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
I will entertain a motion. 
 
 SENATOR NOLAN MOVED TO DO PASS A.B. 112. 
 
 SENATOR BREEDEN SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

THE MOTION CARRIED. (SENATORS WOODHOUSE, WASHINGTON AND 
HORSFORD WERE ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.) 

 
***** 

 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We will open the hearing on A.B. 196. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 196 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to the licensure 

of facilities for refractive surgery. (BDR 40-813) 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
This is a bill from Assemblywoman Leslie. It is one of the measures we heard in 
joint hearing with the Assembly, probably about the third week of Session. We 
have heard this measure so that is why I think it will not take an extraordinary 
amount of time, because we already spent time discussing it.  
 
JEANETTE BELZ (Nevada Academy of Ophthalmology): 
Per testimony heard earlier in joint hearing, this bill was basically the result of a 
situation that had been going on in southern Nevada. With regard to the 
provision of eye care, particularly refractive laser surgery, there are a couple of 
provisions in the bill that I wanted to point out to you. I think we have testified 
to those before. One of the big concerns we had was that when there is surgery 
done at these places that there be an ophthalmologist available to do the 
postoperative care if in fact the patient had need for further care. I am sorry 
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Mr. Hillerby is not here, because he represents the optometrists. There are 
situations where optometrists and ophthalmologists do something called 
comanagement. The preoperative and postoperative care can be provided by the 
optometrist; however, there are situations where a patient might have some 
difficulty and would require an ophthalmologist to look at their case again.  
 
If you look in section 8 of the bill, subsection 2, continuing through 
paragraph (a), it states, “The ophthalmologist who performs a surgical treatment 
for refractive errors of the eye at the facility: (a) Is available in person for 
postoperative care if the medical needs of a patient necessitate the services of 
an ophthalmologist.” Also, there must be coverage if that ophthalmologist was 
not available, and in fact, there would be a relationship based in agreement with 
another ophthalmologist. We basically call that coverage … , so, there would be 
coverage. 
 
In existing regulation and what is being codified in section 7, ophthalmologists 
who do types of surgeries other than the ones listed under section 6 do not 
have to actually be licensed at the refractive surgery center. This goes one step 
further if they provide other types of services. The bill requires those 
ophthalmologists to file an affidavit with the Health Division that indicates what 
they do and do not do. That was one of the problems with the situation in 
Las Vegas.  
 
Subsequent to the hearing that we had, Mr. Hillerby and I worked on a couple 
of amendments to the bill. In section 10, we wanted to make it clear there 
was nothing in the bill that interfered with the current opportunity and statute 
for ophthalmologists and optometrists to collaborate. Also, section 13, 
subsection 3, provided that the collaborating parties, again ophthalmologists 
and optometrists, would agree that the optometrist would refer the patient back 
to the ophthalmologist, or if that person was not available, to the one that was 
covering for them if there was a medical need to do that. That was going to be 
in NRS 636.374, the chapter regarding optometry. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
There is a continuity of care with a medical practitioner, either the one who did 
the procedure or the one covering. It is a seamless opportunity for medical care. 
Is the new section with “optometrist” what required the reprint?  
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MS. BELZ:  
Sections 3, 10 and 13 were the amendments that Fred Hillerby and I worked 
on. That is what required the reprint. That was in existing law; it was just to 
make sure that it did not interfere with it in any way. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
When the patient goes in, the surgeon is the ophthalmologist. Why do you need 
two doctors?  
 
MS. BELZ: 
This is an existing statute now where there are opportunities for optometrists 
and ophthalmologists who work together in collaboration to provide eye care. 
Currently, in statute, there is a requirement that the patient be aware that by 
signing something, all three parties are saying that the care will be provided and 
the patient has the opportunity to go back to the ophthalmologist if they ask for 
that. Mr. Hillerby requested when this bill was put together, it would not 
interfere with that relationship. There would be nothing there that interfered 
with the opportunity for that relationship which already existed in statute. 
 
FRED HILLERBY (Nevada Optometric Association): 
I concur with Ms. Belz. 
 
MARLA MCDADE WILLIAMS (Chief, Bureau of Health Care Quality and Compliance, 

Health Division, Department of Health and Human Services): 
As you know, we did testify on this bill at your Saturday hearing and it is 
codifying a current regulation into the statutes. The facility for refractive surgery 
in the simplest terms is a facility that performs laser or similar procedures to 
correct vision. Patients are often seen only for these specific procedures and are 
not seen for comprehensive vision care at these centers. The bill is intended to 
clarify when a laser surgery center needs to be licensed and when an 
ophthalmologist who can perform such procedures, pursuant to his license, does 
not have to be licensed. When the legislation was enacted to require licensure 
for these facilities, the State Board of Health was given the authority to develop 
regulations. These regulations distinguished between ophthalmological 
practices, performing limited services related to vision correction and the 
practices that performed a wide, comprehensive range of services for patients.  
 
Prior to this bill being drafted, there was a situation in Las Vegas where the 
facility argued that it did not have to be licensed, because it performed services 
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other than surgery. When we went into the facility, we could not find that there 
was a comprehensive level of care being provided for patients. It was almost a 
cash-only business. Patients went in, had their Lasik surgery and left. If there 
was a problem with a patient because the facility was not licensed, the patient 
had some very limited recourse to either get care or to hold the facility 
responsible for what happened.  
 
There was no oversight; I did not even know if the physician was licensed by 
the State. The business itself closed down because the physician was not 
licensed. The Board of Medical Examiners was able to obtain a cease and desist 
order. At the time, we were not able to take any action because of the 
ambiguity concerning what point we could go in and require licensure or not 
require licensure. The bill is intended to make that clarification. The cease and 
desist portion of the bill just allows us to go in and issue a cease and desist 
order as we are going through the process of trying to determine whether or not 
they require licensure. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Was the physician who was determined not to be licensed not licensed at all, or 
not licensed to practice medicine in Nevada?  
 
MS. MCDADE WILLIAMS: 
I understand that he is not licensed in Nevada. Whether or not he was licensed 
in other states at the time, I am not sure. It was an issue for the Board of 
Medical Examiners. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
A handout showing support for A.B. 196 has been submitted to the Committee 
(Exhibit M). I will entertain a motion. 
 
 SENATOR CEGAVSKE MOVED TO DO PASS A.B. 196. 
 
 SENATOR NOLAN SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

THE MOTION CARRIED. (SENATORS WOODHOUSE, WASHINGTON AND 
HORSFORD WERE ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.) 

 
***** 
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CHAIR WIENER: 
We will open the hearing on A.B. 249. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 249 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing the abatement 

of certain nuisances and the protection of public health and safety. 
(BDR 40-1043) 

 
CHAIR WIENER: 
While we are waiting, we have a witness in southern Nevada. 
 
GLENN SAVAGE (Environmental Health Director, Southern Nevada Health District): 
We have worked with Assemblyman Hardy in development of A.B. 249. The 
Health District believes it is a very vital bill. Currently we are working on a 
West Nile virus control program in southern Nevada. We have found in the year 
2008 that we had over 2,800 stagnant-pool complaints in our community and 
we were able to actually trap some West Nile virus-positive mosquitoes. 
A portion of the bill is in response to property owners, including banks and other 
lending corporations, which we have found, quite frankly, are not positive in 
responding to our concerns with those pools. The Health District just this last 
year alone spent over $185,000 for treating those pools, taking measures to 
make sure there is no spread of disease. We believe that part of a process that 
will help us in recouping our costs and also showing that we are very serious 
about this issue, is to go forward with a piece of legislation which will give us 
the opportunity to place liens on properties when it is necessary to recover 
costs associated in providing those treatments of abandoned residential 
swimming pools.  
 
The other portion of the bill concerns another issue we have in Clark County, 
and that is what some people refer to as the “slum landlord bill.” We have found 
in investigating public-nuisance complaints that landlords are not providing some 
basic services for tenants such as water, heating in the wintertime, 
air-conditioning in the summertime, and many times we find that taking care of 
general refuse at the rental property is not being done. We have noted plumbing 
issues where raw sewage ends up outside the facility or real property, or even 
inside the real property. We respond to those issues. 
 
With Assemblyman Hardy, we are looking at this piece of legislation, giving the 
Clark County District Board of Health the ability to adopt regulations to ensure 
the enforcement of laws to protect the public health and safety of people who 
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rent properties. This is the piece of legislation we are offering up for 
consideration. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
I notice on page 3, section 3, paragraph (b), line 19, “Specify the period within 
which the abatement must be completed.” Then on line 22, “… within the time 
specified, the health district shall abate the nuisance and take all necessary 
steps to prevent its recurrence.” Once you know that something is happening, 
is there a sense of immediacy? Do you give a window of opportunity for 
abatement?  
 
MR. SAVAGE: 
We do general research of the property using information, fly-over information, 
actually going out into the field and conducting inspections, to see if we needed 
to make a quick response and make that determination. Currently, what we are 
doing is actually trying to provide a notice to the property owner, whether it is 
through mail, e-mail or noticing the piece of property by pinning a notice on the 
front door of the property. Those options are not really very successful and it 
puts us in a position in which we then have to respond to the public health 
issue, which is the treatment of a pool. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
On page 4, line 5, the bill states “Regulate any health hazard in a rental dwelling 
unit.” I am wondering, how do you respond to commercial properties? What 
about a rented commercial property or commercial properties in general? Is there 
a reason this is excluded from this measure? 
 
MR. SAVAGE: 
I would say the only reason it is excluded from the measure is that we have not 
seen as many issues with commercial rental properties as we have with rental 
properties which are dwelling units. Again, we are finding issues with rodents, 
roaches, issues with raw sewage, garbage and lack of basic necessities for the 
people who are renting those properties. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
One last question, on page 4, line 24, it states “… landlord fails to remedy a 
material failure or to make a reasonable effort to do so … .” Could you give us 
an example? What is material failure? 
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MR. SAVAGE: 
I would read that as more of a plumbing issue, or structural issue. It would be 
quite an issue for us if the landlord failed to remedy that and we would go 
forward with that written notice to the landlord. About providing water, we 
have noted pipes for distribution of water for the tenants, breaking. That has 
happened in the past. Also, material failures include not having adequate 
air-conditioning units or heating units at the rental properties. I believe that is 
what material failure is intended to mean. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
You brought up the issue of why they only mention residential properties and  
homes. In my district, we have a lot of car dealerships; not that we wanted 
them, but we got them on Sahara Avenue. Behind one of the dealerships there 
is a lot of water that comes from drainage onto the street surface, and it goes 
down to a drain that goes nowhere. The water sits there and is stagnant and 
has been for several years. The people who live across the street have now 
noticed that over this last year not only are there bugs and cockroaches, but 
now the rats have come. When we call the dealership, they tell us it is not their 
issue, that they had to provide, per county permit, the drainage. They have the 
drainage, but the water is not going anywhere and it is not evaporating fast 
enough with the heat in the summer. It is nasty, between the smell and what 
goes on. I would like to include these other areas and am glad you came 
forward today. This is an issue which we had asked them to clean up because 
of the debris which has been causing the odor and the pests. If we do not have 
that included someplace in the NRS, I would love to see commercial properties 
and other things where there is a health hazard, which I believe this is, being 
addressed. How would you feel about that? 
 
MR. SAVAGE: 
Representing the Health District, in the past we have had those kinds of 
concerns. We have tried to work with the property owner where the problem is 
occurring to take care of that issue. Also, in dealing with what you describe 
many times we have had to work with the City of Las Vegas, the county and 
the public works department to try to remedy the situation. It does open up an 
area I know we have worked on before. We have also noticed situations similar 
to what you have described in our solid-waste hearing process where we have 
people who allow garbage and other debris to sit in a common area where they 
still control that property. We have to notice them and they have had to clean 
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up the property, so your example does fit a public nuisance, and something we 
can address. 
 
SENATOR CEGAVSKE: 
At this point right now, can you go in and do anything? I keep threatening them 
that I am going to call you.  
 
MR. SAVAGE: 
We take the public nuisance definition of NRS 202 and, quite frankly, I stretch 
that as far as I can to apply it to the problems that occur.  
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Another reference, on page 5, line 17 is, “dwelling unit.” Why not make it 
commercial as well? Going down to line 19 “health hazard,” may help you not 
have to stretch “nuisance” as far as you can creatively do. “Health hazard” 
means any biological, physical or chemical exposure or condition that may 
adversely affect the health of a person.” That does not include everybody, but it 
does give you something besides “nuisance” if we entertain the “commercial” 
that would give the opportunity to go after those dealerships. 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN HARDY: 
In light of the time limit, basically this bill would allow a nuisance, this being a 
mosquito-infested pool, for instance, in a foreclosed house or a house the owner 
does not want to fix, an appropriate lien could be made to recoup the costs so 
that the Health District would not be out money. It also does the same kind of 
thing with rental properties, so we can save people from West Nile virus. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
Reviewing the measure last night, I had a concern when reading it, on page 4 of 
the bill, lines 4 and 5, concerning “residential property” and “rental dwelling.” 
I asked what about commercial property. There are hazards there as well and 
that has become a substantial point of conversation here as well as about those 
who have stagnant pool water or keep extraordinary trash. Mr. Savage stated 
they have to work under “nuisance” provisions but it is a real stretch. 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN HARDY: 
I am so amendment friendly. This would be the vehicle to protect health and 
humankind.   
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CHAIR WIENER: 
Did you have an idea, because we are not sure and need to clarify, on page 4, 
line 24, the meaning of a “landlord fails to remedy a material failure … ” and we 
are guessing whether that means a substantial failure or a failure of something?  
 
ASSEMBLYMAN HARDY: 
I think it is more of a substantial failure. Line 21, page 4, talks about specifying 
failure by the landlord to maintain, then you go there and request the landlord to 
remedy the failure, and the landlord fails to remedy a material failure, or to make 
a reasonable effort to do so. Mr. Savage could probably speak to this better 
than I could, but sometimes they actually remedy it when they first go in. 
Boom, and it is done.  
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
It is interesting that Mr. Savage thought it meant failure of something material, 
so we need some clarity here. We have played with the word “material” in this 
Committee recently, so we are quite familiar with it. We will have fun 
wordsmithing this one too. 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN HARDY: 
This started out with Clark County. Assemblywoman Smith, when she heard 
the bill, said, as the Chair said, “Why don’t we get Washoe [County] in here 
because they have the same problem?” Quite frankly, they have the problem in 
Arizona, Texas and all throughout areas where we have mosquitoes able to 
breed year-round, so it is a widespread problem, not just with us. It is 
something that is health related and I think whatever you would like to do with 
that along those lines would be appropriate. 
 
CHAIR WIENER: 
We would really appreciate an amendment-friendly witness. 
 
SENATOR NOLAN: 
I had an opportunity to talk to Assemblyman Hardy regarding an amendment to 
his bill, and I will work with him and the Committee Chair, just to make sure it 
does not endanger his bill. 
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CHAIR WIENER: 
We have received a copy of testimony from Vivek Raman, Environmental Health 
Supervisor, Southern Nevada Health District, expressing support of A.B. 249 
(Exhibit N).  
 
We have a strong rule about germaneness here, and we will work with counsel 
to ensure that. If an amendment creates a concern, we will only do 
amendments that pertain to the measure before us.  
 
Is there anyone else to appear before the Committee on A.B. 249? If not, we 
will close the hearing on A.B. 249. The meeting is adjourned at 6:35 p.m. 
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Maureen Duarte, 
Committee Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED BY: 
 
 
 
  
Senator Valerie Wiener, Chair 
 
 
DATE:  
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/75th2009/Exhibits/Senate/HR/SHR1113N.pdf�

	SENATE Committee on Health and Education
	Seventy-fifth Session
	May 6, 2009
	COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:
	GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT:
	Assemblyman Joseph (Joe) P. Hardy, Assembly District No. 20
	STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT:
	Marsheilah D. Lyons, Committee Policy Analyst
	Mindy Martini, Committee Policy Analyst
	Sara Partida, Committee Counsel
	OTHERS PRESENT:
	RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:
	APPROVED BY:
	Senator Valerie Wiener, Chair
	DATE:

